1970

## **Lyman Grazing Association v. George W. Smith, Eleanor N. Smith and Keith Smith : Brief of Appellant**

### STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an action to quiet the plaintiff's title to the "New Hickey" and "Parley Madsen" irrigation ditches and for damages against the defendants for wrongful use of such ditches.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The trial court granted to the defendants the right to convey water in the ditches and awarded damages

to them, but did not determine whether the plaintiff owned the ditches or had the right to use them.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The plaintiff seeks to reverse the judgment with directions to the trial court to enter a decree quieting its title to the irrigation ditches and restraining the defendants from using them.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellant will be referred to as the "plaintiffs" and the "respondents" will be referred to as the defendants. The transcript will be referred to as "Tr." and the blue files which contain the pleadings, findings, judgment and copies of certain exhibits will be referred to as "R."

The New Hickey ditch diverts water from the West Fork of Beaver Creek in Summit County and is used to irrigate land in Utah and Wyoming. The Parley Madsen Ditch hereinafter referred to as the "Madsen" ditch diverts water from the same creek at a point about 30 feet downstream from the New Hickey diversion and the Carter ditch referred to in the evidence diverts from the same creek at a point below the Madsen ditch. (Tr. 14, 21) The locations of the ditches are shown on Ex. 1-P. The New Hickey ditch and the Madsen ditch come together in the Northeast Quarter

of Section 25 shown on the Map, Ex. 1-P, (Tr. 34) and the Madsen ditch flows in a northerly direction. The ditch below the confluence of the New Hickey and Madsen ditches is designated on the map as "Parley Madsen ditch". This ditch was in existence and use in 1919 when witness Harry Buckley first became acquainted with the area and has been used for the irrigation of the land now owned by the plaintiff ever since. (Tr. 52) In 1953 when the State Engineer surveyed the area for the purpose of a statutory determination of the water rights in Beaver Creek there were turnouts for laterals to irrigate the plaintiff's land (then owned by Joe C. Hickey). (Tr. 15, 16, 22, 23).

The New Hickey ditch was constructed by Joe C. Hickey about 1955 and was used by Mr. Hickey to carry water to the Madsen ditch which as indicated above carried it to the Hickey land in Section 24 shown on the Map Ex. 1-P. (Tr. 51)

As shown on the map and as explained by state adjudication engineer Donaldson the defendants' land in 1953 when the survey was made was irrigated by means of the Carter ditch which diverts from the West Fork of Beaver Creek about 2000 feet below the New Hickey and Madsen diversions. (See Ex. 1-P) The Carter ditch was used by the defendants until the changes in the headings and ditches were made by the defendants which precipitated this suit. (Tr. 16, 17, 23).

In 1961 Joe C. Hickey and his wife made an agreement to sell the land and the water rights now owned by the plaintiff to Lewis H. Larsen, Dorothy G. Larsen, his wife, Bette G. Larsen Bowes and Wana Lee Larsen and Lewis H. Larsen, Trustee. (R. 74-82) Ex. 8-D. The agreement contained the usual provision for retention of title by the Sellers until payment of the purchase price. (R. 79) The Buyers were given possession on June 1, 1961.

It was stipulated in open court that before the purchase of the Hickey property by Larsen " . . . Joseph Hickey had ownership of the Parley Madsen ditch and the right to use water out of the Parley Madsen ditch as it was then located. . . ." (Tr. 31, 32)

The deposition of Lewis H. Larsen was read into the evidence at the trial. (Tr. 103) Mr. Larsen testified, over the objection that it was hearsay made at the time the deposition was taken and at the trial (Dep. p. 8, Line 20, Tr. 104), that in 1962 he had a telephone conversation with defendant Keith Smith relating to the moving of the defendants' water from the Carter ditch into the New Hickey and Madsen ditches. The following is quoted from the deposition:

" . . . Q. What was said between you and Keith at that time?

A. Oh, I had asked Keith to show me where he would like to move the ditch. I told him we was having a lot of trouble in the meadows down there where his ditch went through. These bea-

vers kept damming his ditches off and flooding my meadows and making a regular swamp down in there. And he said if he could move it up on the higher ground, it would help him and help me both. And I met him out here on this property and we walked this ditch out, and there was an old ditch going down there—

**MR. BACKMAN:** May the record show Mr. Larsen was pointing to a line called the New Hickey Ditch and running through the west half of the east half of Section 24. Okay.

**THE WITNESS:** There was already a ditch there, so I told him I could see it would do no harm to this property and it would help my meadows considerably if he would clean this out big enough to handle his load until he got down to here at the end of the present ditch. He'd have to make a new ditch, stay along the fence and make the curve and follow the fence and go down the edge back to his original ditch, join his original ditch here.

**MR. BACKMAN:** All right. May the record show that Mr. Larsen—

**THE WITNESS:** And I walked it out with him and agreed to do that, and I watched him as he—a few days later when he came in and did the work and everything seemed satisfactory . . .”  
(Deposition of Lewis H. Larsen, pp. 10, 11)

The court reserved his ruling on the admissibility of this evidence.

There is no evidence that the owners of the title to the land which was sold to Larsen agreed to the use by the defendants of the New Hickey and Madsen ditches.

The significant dates relating to the defendants' alleged right to use the two ditches are:

- Construction of Madsen Ditch (Tr. 51)—Prior .....to 1919
- Construction of New Hickey Ditch (Tr. 51)— ..... between 1953 and 1955
- Sale agreement Hickey to Larsen (R. 74, Ex. 8-D) ..... May 26, 1961
- Conversation between Larsen and Keith Smith about using ditches (Larsen dep. pp. 10, 11) — ..... 1962
- Defendants built new heading and enlarged ditches (Tr. 114) ..... 1962, 1963
- Larsen quit claimed to Beehive State Bank (abs. of title, Ex. 6-P, pp. 492 and 494) ..... July 26, 1963
- Application to state engineer for change of defendants' point of diversion from Carter ditch to New Hickey ditch ..... October 23, 1963
- Final decree adjudicating water rights on Beaver Creek awarding water rights and use of Madsen ditch to Joe C. Hickey and wife (R. 82) .....September 25, 1964
- Deed from Joe C. Hickey and wife of land water rights, easements and appurtenances to Beehive State Bank (Abs. of title, Ex. 6-P, pp. 495-498) .....April 30, 1965
- Deed from Beehive State Bank to plaintiff covering lands, water rights and appurtenances (Abs. of title, Ex. 6-P, pp. 499-501) .....April 30, 1965

Keith Smith testified that in 1965 he told Jack Buckley, then the manager of plaintiff association, that the plaintiff should pay part of the cost of repairing the headworks of the New Hickey ditch and of enlarging that ditch and the Madsen ditch and he suggested payment of \$100. (Tr. 150) This was about one-half the cost. (Tr. 150) In the Spring of 1966 Keith Smith told Mr. Phillips, an officer of plaintiff that the defendants were taking over the ditches. (New Hickey and Madsen) (Tr. 77) On May 10, 1966 the plaintiff filed a temporary change application No. 66-27 to change its point of diversion from the Madsen ditch heading to the New Hickey ditch heading. (Tr. 43) A hearing was held before the state engineer and this application was approved July 8, 1966. (Tr. 43) A few days later the plaintiff constructed a new heading for the Madsen ditch below the New Hickey heading and since then has diverted water entirely through the Madsen ditch. (Tr. 197)

The state engineer appointed Willard J. Stringer water commissioner on the West Fork of Beaver Creek in 1966 and he has distributed water to the plaintiff and to the defendants since such date. (Tr. 97-99)

The defendants alleged in their amended answer and counterclaim that during the year 1962 the defendants entered into an oral agreement with Lewis H. (Dude) Larsen, *who was then the owner* of and in possession of certain property described in the complaint which said Larsen was purchasing under a real estate

contract from Joseph C. Hickey for the relocation of the Carter ditch. (R. 17, 18)

The defendants further alleged in their amended answer and counterclaim that they had been and would be damaged in the sum of \$5,000.00 by plaintiff's interference with their rights in the use of their water and that plaintiff had at times cut off the flow of water to them. They also alleged that they had been required to employ an attorney to represent them in this action and that \$2,500.00 was a reasonable attorney's fee. (R. 19)

The trial court decided that Larsen as contract purchaser "occupied a status which enabled him to effectively transact business with the defendants relative to the Hickey ditch and its extension," that Larsen and Keith Smith for a valuable consideration made an arrangement which resulted in the abandonment of the Carter ditch by the defendants and Larsen's consent to their use of the relocated ditch, that the relocation and enlargement of the Hickey ditch was an accomplished and visible fact when the plaintiff acquired the land "... through which the ditches proceed." (R. 33)

The court further decided that the defendants were entitled to an attorney's fee for services rendered in obtaining an injunction "... and related matters but that the defendants are not entitled to an attorney's fee ... for services in this action and directly related matters." (R. 33)

With respect to damages the court said, "6. That defendants' evidence of damage to crops is indefinite as to extent and amount. Both counsel may want to talk to me further in this regard. If so, I will arrange time. I will also consider reopening for additional testimony." The case was not reopened for additional testimony. (R. 33)

Findings of fact, conclusions of law and a judgment following generally the memorandum decision summarized above were filed. (R. 34-40)

The plaintiff filed timely objections to the findings, conclusions and judgment upon the following grounds:

1. That the court made no findings, conclusions or judgment determining whether the plaintiff is the owner of or has an interest in the Madsen ditch and the New Hickey ditch, both of which are described in the complaint.

2. That the court did not determine the interest, if any, of the defendant in either of such ditches but entered a judgment granting to the defendants, ". . . the right in the Hickey Ditch and its extension . . ."

3. That it cannot be determined whether the plaintiff and defendants are co-owners of the ditch and if so what percentage of ownership of the ditch is owned by each. (R. 43)

The plaintiff moved to amend the findings, conclusions and objections to set out with particularity the

plaintiff's and defendants' ownership of and rights in the New Hickey and Madsen ditches. (R. 43, 44) The objections and motion were denied. (R. 49)

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. A permanent right to use a ditch is real estate and cannot be transferred by parol.

2. The court erred in admitting the testimony of Larsen and Keith Smith regarding use of the New Hickey and Madsen ditches over the objection that it was hearsay.

3. The contract purchasers, Larsens, had no legal authority to grant to the defendants the permanent right to use the New Hickey and Madsen ditches.

4. The defendants are bound by the final decree adjudicating to plaintiff's predecessor the use of the Madsen ditch.

5. The approval by the state engineer of application No. a-4379 did not create a right in defendants to use the New Hickey and Madsen ditches.

6. The court erred in awarding damages to the defendants.

7. The court failed to make findings of fact on all material issues.

## ARGUMENT

### 1. A PERMANENT RIGHT TO USE A DITCH IS REAL ESTATE AND CANNOT BE TRANSFERRED BY PAROL.

As indicated in the statement of facts the parties stipulated in open court that before the purchase of the Joseph Hickey property by Larsen, (referred to in the transcript as Joe C. Hickey), Joseph Hickey, plaintiff's predecessor in title, had ownership of the Madsen ditch and the right to use it as it was then located. (Tr. 31, 32) The defendants contended and the trial court found that, "Because of the excessive water on a part of said lands caused by Beaver Dams, Larsens and Smiths decided it would be to the best interests of both that the ditch be relocated." (Finding No. 3, R. 35) The court further found, "That at the sole cost and expense of defendants Smiths and as directed by said Lewis H. Larsen, the said defendants Smiths relocated said ditch . . ." (Finding No. 4, R. 35) The conclusions of law are in the language of the court's memorandum decision.

When the findings are read in the light of the court's memorandum decision it is apparent that the court decided that the oral permission given by Larsen to Smiths to carry water in the New Hickey and Madsen ditches followed by enlargement of the ditches before the plaintiff acquired the Joe C. Hickey land created a permanent right in defendants to use the ditches. This was error.

Section 25-5-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides:

“No estate or interest in real property, other than leases for a term not exceeding one year, nor any trust or power over or concerning real property or in any manner relating thereto, shall be created, granted, assigned, surrendered or declared otherwise than by act or operation of law, or by deed or conveyance in writing subscribed by the party creating, granting, assigning, surrendering or declaring the same, or by his lawful agent thereunto authorized by writing.”

A right to use a ditch is an easement and an easement is an interest in real estate.

See Kinney on Water Rights, 2nd Ed. Sec. 978.  
We quote:

“Rights of way over private lands for the construction and use of ditches, canals or other works may be acquired by contract between the one seeking the right, and the owner of the land based, of course upon the consent of the latter. The right of way being an easement over the land, the general law of contracts applies for securing rights of way for these purposes as applied to the acquisition of rights of way for other purposes. To become a permanent easement the right of way must be acquired by a deed, or as a result of an executed contract founded upon a good and sufficient consideration, to entitle the party seeking the right to a specific performance of the contract by the court or by operation of law by prescription.”

It will be noted that an interest in real estate can be transferred only by a deed of conveyance in writing, by executed contract with the owner, or by operation of law. See *Mannix vs. Powell County*, 75 Mont. 202, 243 P. 568. Admittedly there was no deed or conveyance of an exclusive right or any right in the New Hickey and Madsen ditches or either of them, and there is no pleading or evidence of transfer of title to real property from Hickey to the defendants by operation of law. There has been insufficient time for a prescriptive right. No ditch right has been transferred under the plain provisions of the statute quoted above.

The map Ex. 1-P and the abstract of title Ex. 6-P and the testimony of Harry Buckley (Tr. 51) shows that the ownership of the land traversed by the New Hickey and Madsen ditches and the extension thereof was as follows:

W $\frac{1}{2}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$ , Section 25—United States  
SW $\frac{1}{4}$ SE $\frac{1}{4}$ , Section 24—United States  
NW $\frac{1}{4}$ SE $\frac{1}{4}$ , Section 24—Harry D. Buckley  
SW $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$ , Section 24—Harry D. Buckley  
NW $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$ , Section 24—Harry D. Buckley  
NE $\frac{1}{4}$ NE $\frac{1}{4}$ , Section 24—Joe Hickey  
NW $\frac{1}{4}$ NW $\frac{1}{4}$ , Section 19—Joe Hickey

The users of the New Hickey and Madsen ditches had an easement for carriage of irrigation water. The fact that Larsen, while a contract purchaser from Hickey, authorized the change of location of the ditches did not establish a contract "with the owner" within

the meaning of the rule. Even if Hickey, the user of the ditch with a decreed right to use it had authorized the change it would not have been binding on the United States and Harry D. Buckley! Neither Larsen nor Hickey had any right to grant an easement for the construction and enlargement of the ditches on the lands of the United States and Buckley. The case must be reversed for this reason alone.

## 2. THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE TESTIMONY OF LARSEN AND KEITH SMITH REGARDING USE OF THE NEW HICKEY AND MADSEN DITCHES OVER THE OBJECTION THAT IT WAS HEARSAY.

Both the testimony of Lewis H. Larsen quoted in this brief above from the deposition (pp. 10, 11) and the testimony of Keith <sup>Smith</sup>~~Larsen~~ (Tr. 106-111) as to conversations with Larsen *not in the presence of any representative of the plaintiff* were and are inadmissible as hearsay, unless such testimony falls within an exception to the hearsay rule. The exceptions are listed in Wigmore on Evidence, 3rd Ed. Volume V, pp. 208-209. They are:

1. Dying Declarations.
2. Statements of Fact against Interest.
3. Declarations about Family History.
4. Attestation of a Subscribing Witness.
5. Regular Entries in the Court of Business.
6. Sundry Statements of Deceased Persons.

7. Reputation.
8. Official Statements.
9. Learned Treatises.
10. Sundry Commercial Documents.
11. Affidavits.
12. Statements by a Voter.
13. Declarations of Mental Condition.
14. Spontaneous Exclamations.

It is clear that the testimony in question does not fall within any recognized exception.

In the case of *Cook vs. Rigney*, 113 Mont. 198, 126 P.2d 325, which was a contest between two claimants to real estate, an effort was made to put in evidence certain declarations made by a former owner, J. W. Cook. The court said:

“The statements allegedly to have been made by J. W. Cook were patently hearsay, and unless they come within one of the recognized exceptions to the hearsay rule, they were not competent for any purpose.—To make such declarations admissible, as repeatedly said by this court, the party offering such testimony must show that the declarations were made while the declarant was holding title to the property in controversy; that the declarant was, in fact, the grantor of the party against whom the declaration is offered; and that the declaration was against interest.”

As shown by the abstract, Larsen was not a grantor in the chain of title and was not the grantor of Lyman Grazing Association. (Ex. 6-P)

See also, *Savage vs. Nielsen*, 114 Utah 22, 197 P.2d 117.

The court clearly erred in admitting the hearsay testimony of Larsen.

**3. THE CONTRACT PURCHASERS, LARSENS, HAD NO LEGAL AUTHORITY TO GRANT TO THE DEFENDANTS THE PERMANENT RIGHT TO USE THE NEW HICKEY AND MADSEN DITCHES.**

The sales agreement between the Hickeys, vendors, and the Larsens, purchasers, dated May 26, 1961, gave the purchasers the right of possession of the Hickey land, ditch rights, water rights and appurtenances, but provided that the legal title would be retained by the vendors until payment in full of the purchase price. (R. 79) Assuming for the sake of this argument only that the hearsay testimony of Larsen and Keith Smith was admissible nevertheless such testimony does not create any permanent legal right to use the ditches in question. First, the testimony of Larsen quoted above and of Keith Smith is very general and does not show an intent to create a permanent right and, second the purchaser Larsen had no ownership of the property which would enable him by his words or acts to change the fee title to the land subject to an easement for the Carter ditch from one location to another location or to grant a *permanent right* to defendants to take their water through the New Hickey and Madsen ditches on the land owned by Hickey. A

we have pointed out above, neither Larsen nor Hickey could impose an easement on the land owned by the United States and by Buckley.

It is fundamental that a person cannot by his acts or conduct confer on a third person a greater right than he possessed. *Lesser vs. Dame*, 77 Miss. 798, 26 So. 961. In the case of *Chandler vs. Hamell*, 67 N.Y.S. 1068, a purchaser in possession of land under a sales agreement permitted a third party to construct a building on the property. The court held:

“A purchaser in possession of land under an executory contract of sale cannot, without the consent of the vendor, create a right in a third person to erect thereon and remove buildings placed on blocks and posts.”

Larsen's right as a purchaser was a possessory right only until he got the fee simple title and he could permit the defendants to use the ditches only while he, Larsen, had possession. He had no authority to change the basic property rights by changing the location of a permanent easement.

#### 4. THE DEFENDANTS ARE BOUND BY THE FINAL DECREE ADJUDICATING TO PLAINTIFF'S PREDECESSOR THE USE OF THE MADSEN DITCH.

The pages in the general adjudication of water rights in the West Fork of Beaver Creek (R. 136) show that on the date of the decree, September 25,

1964, Joe C. Hickey and wife were the owners of a right to convey their water under right No. 1413 through the "Parley Madsen Ditch." Such a decree speaks as of its date and is conclusive proof of the right to the use of the ditch as of that date. There has been no proof by the defendants of any fact which would defeat the plaintiff's right of use of the Madsen ditch since September 25, 1964. The converse is true. There is no proof of any fact or event which occurred since September 25, 1964, which would create in the defendants the right to use the ditch. The defendants were parties to the decree and their water rights and ditch rights were likewise adjudicated in the Carter ditch. (R. 134) All parties were bound by the decree.

**5. THE APPROVAL BY THE STATE ENGINEER OF APPLICATION NO. a-4379 DID NOT CREATE A RIGHT IN DEFENDANTS TO USE THE NEW HICKEY AND MADSEN DITCHES.**

Keith Smith testified that he used the New Hickey ditch and the Madsen ditch to carry the water he was entitled to carry in the Carter ditch during the 1963 irrigation season. He filed no change application until October 22, 1963. The statute, Section 73-3-3 Utah Code Annotated 1953 requires the filing of a change application before changing the point of diversion from one ditch to another and provides:

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