1970

Lyman Grazing Association v. George W. Smith, Eleanor N. Smith and Keith Smith : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

WHEN AN EASEMENT HAS ONCE BEEN ESTABLISHED, ITS LOCATION MAY BE CHANGED BY AN EXECUTED ORAL AGREEMENT.

Much time at the trial of the case was taken by plaintiff-appellant over the objection of defendants-respondents, in reviewing the adjudicated water rights of parties and ditches not involved in this action even after counsel for plaintiff-appellant admitted defendants-respondents were granted water rights from the West Fork of Beaver Creek which flow into the New Hickey and Madsen ditches, by the State Engineer, and after having admitted that respondents had an easement through the property involved in the old Carter Ditch the waters of which were also fed from the West Fork of Beaver Creek, the same source as those flowing into the New Hickey ditch, and also having admitted that respondents

had been granted a change in point of diversion of their waters by the State Engineer.

The only question involved in this case is this: May the purchaser of real property under a written contract, which property is encumbered by an easement for the conveying of waters, and the owner of the easement enter into an oral agreement, with the consent of the owner of the fee title, to a relocation of the easement, and if the easement is relocated does a purchaser of the fee subsequent to the relocation take subject to the easement as relocated.

Now the New Hickey ditch as it runs north through the property involved joins with a ditch called Parley Madsen ditch and as the waters flow in a northerly direction through the property involved for several miles they cross the Utah-Wyoming border and onto the property of respondents.

Our Utah Court has had this question before it in *Tripp v Bagley*, 74 U. 57, 69 ALR 1417, which involved a dispute between owners of adjoining lands as to ownership of a strip of ground and defendant also claimed a right to course irrigation water which was used to irrigate defendant's land across the land owned by the plaintiff. The plaintiff contended that defendant had no such right in which the court speaking through Mr. Justice Hansen said at page 75:

"The law is also well settled that, when an easement has once been established, its location may be changed by an executed oral agreement between the owner of the servient estate and the

owner of the dominant estate. Citing Thompson et al. v. Madsen et al, 29 U. 326, 81 P.160. The consent of the owner of the servient estate to a change in the location of an easement may be implied from acquiescence. Citing Rumill v Robbins 77 Me. 193; Larned v Larned, 1 Metc. (Mass) 421; Wynkoop v Burger, 12 Johns (N.Y.) 222.

Appellant relies on Sec. 25-5-1 UCA 1953 and argues that because an easement in land is an interest in real estate the interest can be transferred only by a deed of conveyance in writing, by executed contract with the owner, or by operation of law.

It appears the Courts have adopted the same principal of law under facts such as appear in this case as have been adopted in those cases where a dispute as to boundaries exist and where one may acquire title to the real property involved without a conveyance from the fee title owner.

In this case there was performance on the part of defendants-respondents for a valuable consideration in their having given up an existing easement and having performed valuable services and having assumed the cost of relocating the easement.

The case of Mannix vs Powell County, 75 Mont. 202, 243 P.568 is cited and relied upon by appellant. The Mannix case is not in point inasmuch as the cause was disposed of upon the theory that plaintiff had failed to show that he or his predecessors in interest had ever acquired a right of way for the ditch over the particular strip of ground mentioned. The

court there further said that a vested interest in the public lands to a right of way for an irrigating ditch is not secured until the ditch is completed.

In the instant case it is admitted that there was an existing easement through which defendants-respondents had been conveying their waters to their lands for many years. It is to be noted that the relocated ditch passes through the same quarter section and almost parallels the old ditch. Neither was the New Hickey ditch located on public lands.

In the *Thompson et al. v Madsen et al.* 81 Pac. case cited by our Utah Court in *Tripp v Bagley* it is said at page 161 :

“If, then, the predecessors of the defendants, in consideration of the closing of said portion of the north and south alley, granted to plaintiffs and to their predecessors a right of way over the east and west alley in lieu thereof, which was accepted by the plaintiffs and their predecessors, the defendants will not now be allowed to close the new or substituted alley without first restoring the old one; and the fact that such grant was oral matters not, if on the faith of it rights have been acquired or relinquished and acted upon. *Wright et al. v Willis (Ky.)* 63 SW 991; *Hamilton v White*, 5 N.Y. 9; *Smith v Barnes*, 101 Mass. 275; *Beinlein v Johns*, 102 Ky. 570, 44 S.W. 128; *Robinson v Thrailkill*, 110 Inc. 117, 10 N.E. 647. And where the owner of a right of way, whether acquired by prescription or otherwise, consents to the closing of the said right of way in consideration of substituting and granting to him a new one, the right to

the use of such new way at once attaches, and he is not required to use the new way for a period of time to give him title by prescription.”

In the instant case it is evident that both the owner of the fee title to the property through which both the old ditch ran and the new ditch runs, and the purchaser under contract, were desirous of having the ditch relocated because of the continued obstruction of the flow of waters caused by beavers damming the ditch. The overflowing of the banks flooded the lands through which the ditch passed.

POINT 2

THE CONTRACT FOR RELOCATING THE DITCH HAVING BEEN BETWEEN PREDECESORS IN INTEREST OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT AND HAVING BEEN FULLY PERFORMED, THE TESTIMONY OF LARSEN AND KEITH SMITH WAS ADMISSIBLE AND NOT HEARSAY.

The evidence is to the effect that on May 26th, 1961, Joe C. Hickey and wife entered into a written agreement to sell the land affected and the water rights to Lewis H. Larsen, sometimes referred to in the evidence as Dude Larsen et al, and that Larsen took possession of the property under said contract on June 1, 1961 and continued in possession thereof until the fall of 1965 when plaintiff-appellant acquired the property. While the record reflects the fact that a deed passed from Larsens to Beehive

State Bank bearing date July 26, 1963, Larsen testified to the fact that the deed was given as security only and that he remained in possession until the fall of 1964. The agreement between Larsen and Smiths to relocate the ditch was made in 1962 and the relocation took place in 1963 when an application was filed by defendants-respondents for a change of point of diversion. The application was approved by the State Engineer on Apr. 3, 1964 all of which was prior to plaintiff-appellant having acquired any interest whatsoever in the property affected. Appellant's agreement to purchase said land bears date of Apr. 30, 1965. Therefore the contract between defendants-respondents and the predecessor in interest of plaintiff-appellant having been fully performed for a valuable consideration at the time appellants acquired an interest in the property the testimony of Larsen and Keith Smith was properly admitted into evidence.

POINT 3

THE CONTRACT PURCHASER, LARSEN, HAD LEGAL AUTHORITY TO ENTER INTO THE AGREEMENT WITH RESPONDENT KEITH SMITH TO RELOCATE THE DITCH.

Inasmuch as the evidence shows that not only did Larsen, the contract purchaser, request the relocation of the ditch but Joe Hickey the fee title holder had also requested the relocation of the ditch. Therefore, the argument of appellant under its point 3 is not applicable.

POINT 4

THE DECREE ADJUDICATING WATER RIGHTS IS IN EVIDENCE. THE RIGHTS ADJUDICATED BY SAME ARE NOT AFFECTED BY THE DECISION IN THE INSTANT CASE.

Appellant seems to take the position in its argument under its point 4 that respondents are making claim to water rights not awarded to them or those affecting one, Joe Hickey. There is no evidence reflecting the fact that Hickey's rights whatever they might be are affected by the judgment in the instant case. It is evident that application for change of point of diversion of those waters adjudicated to respondents was filed with the State Engineer, that notice to all affected parties or those who might be affected by the change was given by the State Engineer and that no one filed a protest and as a result the application for change was granted.

POINT 5

APPLICATION FOR CHANGE OF POINT OF DIVERSION HAVING BEEN GRANTED AFTER NOTICE AND WITHOUT ANY PROTEST, RESPONDENTS HAD THE RIGHT TO USE THE NEW HICKEY AND MADSEN DITCHES.

Even if the argument of appellant under its point 5 be true, in which we see no point, inasmuch as no action for a violation of Sec. 73-3-3 UCA 1953

has been taken by anyone, the fact that appellant admits respondents' application for change of point of diversion was approved April 3, 1964, which is a time prior to appellant having acquired an interest in the property, this of itself defeats appellant as to this point of argument.

Under Secs. 73-1-6 and 73-1-7 UCA 1953 it is provided that one has the right to use someone else's ditch to convey his water if he compensates the owner or if the owner agrees to allow the use. Therefore, a written deed or easement is not required. Respondents both compensated the then owner and obtained the owner's permission to relocate the ditch.

POINT 6

THE DOCUMENT BY WHICH PLAINTIFF APPELLANT ACQUIRED TITLE TO THE PROPERTY AFFECTED RECITES THAT IT IS SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS OR RIGHTS OF WAY FOR DITCHES. APPELLANT IS THEREFORE ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING ITS CLAIM AGAINST DEFENDANTS-RESPONDENTS.

Both the deed executed by Joe C. Hickey and wife, bearing date April 30th, 1965 and recorded May 3, 1965, and that from Beehive State Bank bearing date April 30th, 1965 and recorded May 3, 1965, to plaintiff-appellant contained the following

"The above described premises are conveyed subject to:

(a) Any and all easements or rights of way for roads, ditches, canals, pole lines, transmission

lines or like facilities now existing over, under or across the premises described above or hereinafter constructed under patent reservations covering any part of said premises.”

The evidence is that Sylvester Phillips, president of plaintiff-appellant corporation, examined the property affected before appellant purchased the same. He testified to the fact that it was when Dude Larsen was in possession. He went over the whole property, probably in '64, with a group of people. Larsen was in possession and his brother was there irrigating. This was in the summer and fall of '64. He was asked (R.80)

Q. I presume, you went and examined what water rights were attached to the property, did you not?

A. Well, we have a lawyer do that too and other advisers.

Q. I mean, on the property itself, you went—you wanted to know where the ditches were, did you not?

A. Sure.

Q. You observed the location of the ditches, did you not?

A. Well, sure.

(R.83)

Q. I believe you testified to the fact that you went into possession—the Lyman Grazing—

went into possession in the fall of '64. Am I correct in that?

A. That's right.

Q. When you first observed the ditches, which are shown on the exhibit here on the board, was water running through the ditches?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, during the year 1966, you have testified to the fact that Mr. Keith Smith—was it—that told you they were taking over the new Hickey ditch?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And what was said, other than that, at that time; do you recall?

A. Well, that is about all that was said. He said he had done a lot of work on the ditch, and we hadn't contributed anything to it, and he didn't think we had right in the ditch.

Q. And didn't he tell you on what he based his claim to the use of the New Hickey ditch?

A. He says they had changed the point of diversion; were taking their water out in the New Hickey ditch.

Q. Did you question, at that time, his right to do that?

A. No.

POINT 7

PLAINTIFF - APPELLANT HAVING WRONGFULLY INTERFERED WITH THE RIGHTS OF DEFENDANTS-RESPONDENTS REQUIRING THEM TO ENGAGE THE SERVICES OF AN ATTORNEY AND CAUSING RESPONDENTS TO INCUR EXPENSES TO PROTECT THEIR RIGHTS, RESPONDENTS ARE ENTITLED TO THE AWARD FOR DAMAGES.

The evidence fully supports the award for damages under the judgment including the award for attorney's fees incurred by respondents in obtaining a restraining Order.

In 22 Am. Jur. 2d, Sec. 166 under title "Damages", the law is stated as follows:

"It is generally held that where the wrongful act of the defendant has involved the plaintiff in litigation with others or placed him in such relation with others as makes it necessary to incur expense to protect his interest, such costs and expenses, including attorneys' fees, should be treated as the legal consequences of the original wrongful act and may be recovered as damages."

Numerous cases are cited under said general principal of law including the Utah case of Prudential Federal Savings & Loan Assoc. vs. Hartford, 7 U 2d 366, 325 P2d 906, wherein the trial court awarded attorney's fees in a suit involving a contract bond and in which the defendant contended that attorney's fees should not be allowed. The Court said:

“The attack Hartford makes upon the judgment is that plaintiff’s expenses for attorney’s fees should not have been allowed because they are not generally recoverable unless expressly provided for by contract or authorized by statute. That such is the general rule we agree. But it applies to claims for attorney’s fees within the action itself, and not to situations such as the instant case.”

While respondents had prayed for \$2500 attorney’s fees incurred by them in the prosecution of the case, exclusive of that fee incurred in obtaining the Restraining Order, the court disallowed the same. The other items of damage allowed by the court were as a result of plaintiff-appellant cutting off and interfering with the waters of respondents and were properly fixed on the basis of the evidence.

POINT 8

THE COURT PROPERLY FOUND ON ALL ISSUES OF THE CASE AND THE FINDINGS ARE SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

There was no contention on the part of respondents that appellants were not entitled to the use of the Madsen ditch nor was there any issue as to same. The case was an action to quiet title on the part of plaintiff-appellant against defendants-respondents and praying that the court adjudge that respondents had no right to the use of the New Hickey and Park Madsen ditches for the conveying of their waters through the property of appellants. There was no

counter-claim filed by respondents seeking exclusive use of either the New Hickey or the Madsen ditch and the court adjudged that it did not find an exclusive use of the Madsen ditch in either party.

CONCLUSION

It having been admitted by appellant that respondents had an easement through the property purchased by appellant for the conveying of respondents' waters to their lands, and the uncontradicted evidence showing that the owners and predecessors in interest of appellants requested and agreed to the relocation of the easement, which was beneficial to the land through which the easement passed, and the agreement to relocate having been for a valuable consideration and having been fully performed before appellant acquired any interest in the property, and appellant having taken with notice of such easement and subject to the same, the evidence fully supports the judgment and the same should be affirmed.